IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ISRAEL BAIGUEN, an individual,

Appellant,

vs.

HARRAH' S LAS VEGAS, LLC, a
Nevada Domestic Limited-Liability
Company, dba HARRAH' S CASINO
HOTEL, LAS VEGAS; HARRAH'S
LAS VEGAS, INC. dba HARRAH' S
CASINO HOTEL, LAS VEGAS;
CAESARS ENTERTAINMENT
CORPORATION, a Nevada Foreign
Corporation, dba ~[ARRAH' S CASINO
HOTEL, LAS VEGAS; DOES I through
X, inclusive; and, ROE CORPORATIONS
I though X, inclusive,

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 70204

Appeal from
Clark County District Court
Case No. A708544

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Respondent, Harrah's Las Vegas, LLC, pursuant to NRAP 40B(a),

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether Nevada's worker's compensation statutes preempt a

negligence claim asserting that an employer is liable to an employee for an

alleged failure to timely summon medical assistance.

REASONS REVIEW IS WARRANTED

The Supreme Court is urged to review this matter because it is

believed it is "one of first impression of general statewide significance" or

"statewide public importance." See, NRAP 40B(a)(1) and (3). Also,

NRAP 40(B)(a)(2) is applicable because the Court of Appeals' decision

conflicts with prior holdings that worker's compensation applies when, as

here, there is a nexus between workplace conditions and an injury. See,

e.g., Rio Suite Hotel &Casino v. Go~sky, 113 Nev. 600, 939 P.2d 1043,

1046 (1997)

ARGUMENT

Introduction

A detailed rendition of the facts is set forth in Respondent's

Answering Brief. Appellant, Israel Baiguen, was an employee of

Respondent, Harrah's. On October 19, 2012, while in employee parking

g~?'~gP and thin in the T_~~usPk~Ppin~ ~~p~~tm~nt cif H~r_r~h's ~s he was

beginning to start his work duties, Baiguen e~ibited physical symptoms
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that were potentially consistent with the beginning of a stroke. (App. Vol.

1 00066:5-25; 00069:2 — 00070:20; 00071:16 — 00073:14).' Baiguen's co-

workers, not recognizing the severity of what was occurring, arranged to

take him home instead of seeking medical assistance. (App. Vol. 1

00096:1-17). Two days later, he was seen by his significant other, taken to

the hospital and diagnosed as having suffered a stroke. (App. Vol. 1 0004

¶ V; 00054:13-17; 00055:21 — 00056:7).

It is not alleged that Harrah's negligence caused the stroke. Baiguen

seeks to recover for various alleged negligent acts or omissions of Harrah's

employees, as itemized in Paragraph VIII of the Complaint, such as alleged

inadequate training, a lack of effective procedures and a failure to call for

medical assistance. (App. Vol. 1 0005 ¶ VIII).2

The Legal Standard and the Court of Appeals' Decision

Nevada's worker's compensation statutes provide "the exclusive

remedy for employees injured on the job, and an employer is immune from

suit by an employee for injuries arising out of and in the course of the

"App. Vol. 1" refers to Appellant's Appendix, Vol. 1.
Z See, also, Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 8-9 ("[t]he injury for which Mr.
Baiguen seeks compensation in this case is the loss of chance from
r~~gve~v cif tie u~aderlying stroke resulting from the Defendants'
negligence in ~espondzng to the obvious signs of stroke e~ibited by Israel
Baiguen on the afternoon of October 19, 2012") (emphasis added).
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employment." Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 732, 121 P.3d 1026,

1031 (2005) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The Court of

Appeals found that the "in the course of the employment" prong was met.

As for the second prong, "determining the type of risk faced by the

employee is an important first step in analyzing whether the employee's

injury arose out of her employment," with risks being categorized as "those

that are solely employment related, those that are purely personal, and

those that are neutral." Rio All Suite Hotel &Casino v. Phillips, 126 Nev.

346, 350-51, 240 P.3d 2, 5. Employment-related risks arise out of one's

employment, while personal ones generally do not. Phillips, 240 P.3d at 5

(citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

In Phillips, this Court "adopt[ed] the increased-risk test to determine

whether an injury resulting from a neutral risk is compensable." Id., at 6

(emphasis added). "[N]eutral risks are those that are ̀ of neither distinctly

employment nor distinctly personal character. "' Id., at 6 (citations

omitted). Under the test, worker's compensation applies if the employee

"is subjected `to a risk greater than that to which the general public [is]

exposed. "' Id., at 7 (citation omitted).

With these principles in mind; the Court of Appeals held:
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The unique facts of this case raise a valid
question regarding whether the risk of Baiguen's
injuries should properly have been classified as
"personal" or "neutral." However, under either
categorization of risk, we conclude that
Baiguen's injuries (whether characterized as the
stroke itself of the lack of immediate care in the
aftermath) did not "arise" from employment — if
the risk was "personal" (meaning that he would
have suffered the stroke with 100% certainty
regardless of his employment) then no causal
link exists; if the risk was "neutral," the existing
record does not demonstrate that either
Baiguen's duties as a houseperson or the
particular working conditions at Harrah's
"increased the risk" of Baiguen's stroke. (See,
Order, p. 4).

Respectfully, there is no contention in this case that the injury

allegedly caused by Harrah's negligence was the stroke itself. Further, the

Court of Appeals erred in concluding that Baiguen's injuries did not arise

from employment —they did, making the increased risk test irrelevant.

Even if, hypothetically, the risk involved in this case was "neutral" such

that the increased risk test applied, Baiguen faced a greater risk than

members of the general public in the "back of the house" areas such as the

employee parking garage and the Housekeeping Office where Baiguen

[.".
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supposedly exhibited his stroke symptoms, preempting the negligence

claim.3

Baiguen's Injuries Are Employment-Related

For an injury to "arise out of employment," there must be a "link

between the workplace conditions and how those conditions caused the

injury;" the injury must be "fairly traceable to the nature of employment or

the workplace environment." Go~sky, 939 P.2d at 1046.

Baiguen does not contend that Harrah's negligence or something

inherent to the workplace caused him to suffer his stroke. Rather, the

alleged negligence arose after the stroke supposedly started from the

claimed failure of Harrah's employees to properly respond to Baiguen's

stroke symptoms by calling 911 or otherwise getting him to the hospital in

time for treatment. This alleged negligence is clearly linked or traceable to

the Harrah's workplace. It is tied to Harrah's alleged failure to properly

train its employees on how to respond to stroke symptoms and/or the

employees' alleged failure to execute on any training by calling 911 or

3 Regarding the risk possibly being personal, this would be true if the

stroke itself were the alleged injury, in which case, worker's compensation

pr~era~~tion would not apply. However, if this were the contention, then

Baiguen has made no showing that something in the Harrah's workplace

caused him to have the stroke, and his negligence claim would fail for lack

of causation.
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otherwise obtaining medical assistance for Baiguen. Taking Baiguen's

allegations on their face, if he had suffered the same stroke while working

for a different employer, with different employees in a different work

environment, the outcome might have been different. Under Baiguen's

own theory of the case, his alleged injuries are inextricably connected with

the Harrah's workplace.

That the alleged negligence for which Baiguen seeks to recover is

linked to the Harrah's workplace is demonstrated by Dugan v. AmeNican

Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc., 912 P.2d 1322 (Ariz. App.

1995). Dugan had a "heart event" at work. Her co-workers tried to call

911, but could not do so because the company "had blocked that number in

favor of an in-house emergency number." Id., 912 P.2d at 1325. "Due to

the inability to reach [911] ..., emergency medical assistance was delayed,

and Mrs. Dugan suffered prolonged oxygen deprivation ...resulting in

severe, irreversible brain damage." Id., at 1325. Dugan filed a negligence

lawsuit.

Similarly, here, Baiguen perhaps exhibited stroke symptoms while

in the workplace, he claims there was a delay in receiving medical

xxeatment due to decisions made by Harrah's employees, resulting in

severe, irreversible injuries, and he has brought a negligence action.
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In Dugan, the lower court granted summary judgment to the

employer, regarding "Mrs. Dugan's brain injury as an aggravation of a pre-

existing physical condition, the damages from which are covered by

worker's compensation." Id., at 1326. The appellate court affirmed,

holding:

[T]he parties agree that Mrs. Dugan's heart event
is non-compensable because there was no
employment-related injury, stress or exertion
which substantially contributed to this episode.
Nonetheless, even under the plaintiffs' theory,
Mrs. Dugan's brain injury was not an
uninterrupted consequence of her heart event,
[but] .caused in whole or in part by an
intervening incident —the delay in emergency
medical attention caused by [the employer's]
action in blocking [911 ] access .. .

[T]he delay in emergency medical attention
caused by [the employer's] bar to [911]
telephone access combined with Mrs. Dugan's
non-compensable, pre-existing heart condition to
cause, at least in part, her severe brain injury.
This inability to reach emergency assistance
through [911 ] constitutes an `accident' for
purposes of [Arizona's worker's compensation
statute]." Id., at 1328-29.

Here, similarly, the parties agree that Baiguen's stroke itself is not

covered by the NIIA. However, Baiguen's theory of the case is that the

lore-terms effects cif tie strode wexe e~a~~x~~ted by ~ delay in receiving

medical treatment (or at least the delay denied him the opportunity to
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receive t-PA, which might have allowed him to avoid or mitigate the long-

term consequences of the stroke). Thus, as in Dugan, his claim is

exclusively covered by NIIA because Baiguen's present condition

(according to him) resulted from a combination of his non-compensable,

pre-existing condition and the alleged negligent acts or omissions of

Harrah's employees.4

Even If Baiguen's Injury Resulted From A "Neutral Risk,"
Baiguen Was Subjected To A Risk Greater Than That

Faced By Members Of The General Public

Even if, hypothetically, the Court of Appeals was correct that the

risk faced by Baiguen in the workplace was "neutral," its conclusion that

"the existing record does not demonstrate that either Baiguen's duties as a

houseperson or the particular working conditions at Harrah's ̀ increased the

risk' of [his] stroke" is erroneous. While Baiguen's houseperson duties are

not germane to anything, where he supposedly suffered the stroke is

relevant. The record established that when Harrah's employees observed

4 Dugan was recently followed in Martinez v. Scottsdale Healthcare
Corporation, 2017 WL 344260 (Ariz. App.), in which summary judgment

for the employer on an employee's negligence claim was affirmed based

on worker's compensation exclusivity. In Martinez, the alleged
negligence was that the employer's failure to "notify [the employee] of the

results ~f [hzs~ chest x-ray ~ o ~ ~J~priv~[d] hi_rn of the opportunity to

discover and treat his cancer earlier." Id. at *3. Similarly, Baiguen

contends Harrah's failure to get him treatment deprived him of the
opportunity to have his stroke treated in a timely manner.
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Baiguen's alleged symptoms and behavior, he was first in the employee

parking portion of the parking garage, and then in the area of the

Housekeeping Department where employees clocked-in and received their

radios and keys. (App. Vol. 1 00066:5-25; 00069:2 — 00070:20; 00071:16

— 00073:14). To the extent there was a risk that his co-workers would not

recognize the symptoms of a stroke and/or not know to promptly summon

medical attention in response thereto, Baiguen faced a greater risk in these

"back of the house" areas than members of the general public.

Based on the foregoing, Harrah's respectfully requests that this

Court reverse the Order of the Court of Appeals and affirm the granting of

summary judgment by the District Court.

Respectfully submitted,

FISHER & P~II~LI~' LP
..,.~~-°~ 

~. ~ ~.~.0 _._. _.__

~.r

SCOTT M. MAHONEY, ESQ.
Bar No. 1099
300 S. Fourth Street
Suite 1500
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 252-3131
Attorneys for Respondent