IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

         

ISRAEL BAIGUEN, an individual, 

Appellant,  

v.   

HARRAH’S LAS VEGAS, LLC, a 

Nevada Domestic Limited-Liability 

Company, dba HARRAH’S CASINO 

HOTEL, LAS VEGAS; HARRAH’S 

LAS VEGAS INC. dba HARRAH’S 

CASINO HOTEL, LAS VEGAS; 

CAESARS ENTERTAINMENT 

CORPORATION, a Nevada Foreign 

Corporation, dba HARRAH’S 

CASINO HOTEL, LAS VEGAS; 

DOES I through X, inclusive; and, 

and ROE CORPORATIONS I 

through X, inclusive, 

Respondents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Supreme Court Case No. 70204 

 

Appeal from Clark County District Court 

Case No.  A-14-708544 -C 

 

 

ANSWER TO  PETITION FOR REVIEW 

Appellant Israel Baiguen, pursuant to NRAP 40b(e), and at the direction of 

the Court pursuant to its Order filed April 20, 2017, hereby files his Answer to the 

Petition for Review filed by Respondent Harrah’s Las Vegas, LLC on March 16, 

2017. 
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This case was submitted to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2).  

In the Routing Statement of his Opening Brief Appellant stated that “[w]hereas this 

appeal is taken from a District Court Order Granting Summary Judgment, this 

matter is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 

17(b)”. [Opening Brief, page 1.]  In the Answering Statement within its 

Responding Brief, Harrah’s stated “Respondents agree with the Routing Statement 

contained in the Opening Brief.” [Answering Brief, page 1.]   

The matter was fully briefed by both parties and submitted to the Court of 

Appeals.  On February 28, 2017 the Court of Appeals issued its Order reversing 

and remanding the matter. [Order of Reversal and Remand, page 5.]  That order 

reversed the District Court’s granting of summary judgment in favor of Harrah’s.   

Only after suffering an adverse result from the Court of Appeals, did Harrah 

belatedly claim in its petition for review that this case “is ‘one of first impression 

of general statewide significance’ or ‘statewide public importance’” and should 

therefore be decided by the Supreme Court and not the Court of Appeals.  [Petition 

for Review, page 2].  Harrah’s agreement at the briefing stage that the case should 

be routed to the Court of Appeals should now operate to waive the newly stated 

belief that this case “is ‘one of first impression of general statewide significance’ 

or ‘statewide public importance’”. 
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If granted, the extraordinary relief being requested by Harrah’s would negate 

the intended benefits to litigants and the Nevada judicial system by the creation of 

the Court of Appeals.  At this point, the appeal SHOULD be finally resolved and 

the matter remanded for further proceedings in the district court.  However, if the 

court grants Harrah’s petition for review - which really amounts to a second bite at 

the appellate apple - the authority and efficacy of the Court of Appeals will be 

thoroughly undermined.     

NRAP 17 clearly delineates the categories of cases which should be routed 

to each respective court.  All of the information needed for Harrah’s to make a 

determination regarding which court should hear this case was available before the 

briefs were written.  Nevertheless, Harrah’s agreed that the issues in this case could 

and should be resolved by the Court of Appeals.   

Harrah’s concurrent complaint that “the Court of Appeals decision conflicts 

with prior holdings that worker’s compensation applies when, as here, there is a 

nexus between workplace conditions and an injury” is without merit.  First, a 

review of the table of authorities in Harrah’s Answering Brief reveals that the case 

cited in support of the Petition for Review, Rio Suite Hotel & Casino v. Gorsky, 

was NOT cited in the Answering Brief.  Now, Harrah’s seeks to impermissibly rely 

upon authority which Harrah’s 1) never raised at the district court level; and 2) did 

not include in its Responding Brief. 
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Despite the Court of Appeals’ well-reasoned analysis of the issue of whether 

Appellant’s injuries arose from his employment, and its subsequent determination 

that they did not, Harrah’s simply declares that “they did.” PFR page 5.  One 

party’s disagreement with the decision (which of course is the result in every case) 

does not equate to a “conflict with prior holdings”.  Indeed, nowhere in the Petition 

for Review does Harrah’s either 1) identify exactly which prior cases are 

inapposite to the Court of Appeals’ order; or 2) explain how the order in this case 

does violence to any prior holdings by Nevada courts.  Instead, Harrah’s cites to an 

extra-jurisdictional Arizona case, Dugan v. American Express, which has been the 

authority relied upon primarily by Harrah’s throughout this litigation.  Even then, 

Harrah’s merely re-argues the points already considered and eschewed by the 

Court of Appeals.   

The Petition for Review does not address the issues which it claims warrant 

review:  That the case is “one of first impression of general statewide significance” 

or “statewide public importance” and/or that the Court of Appeals decision 

conflicts with prior holdings in this jurisdiction.   

Rather, the petition merely reargues the same points and contentions raised  

in the Answering Brief.  It is clear that the issue of employer liability for injuries 

incurred in the workplace is well settled in Nevada.  The briefing in this case and 

the Court of Appeals’ opinion make myriad references to the underlying Nevada 
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authority in this area of law.  The Opening Brief cited six Nevada cases and 

Harrah’s Answering Brief added another four unique Nevada cases.  Multiple 

sections of Nevada Industrial Insurance Act were cited.   The well-reasoned Order 

of Reversal and Remand issued by the Court of Appeals is supported throughout 

by applicable precedent.  Nowhere in the petition for review does Harrah’s even 

argue, let alone support an argument, that this is a case of first impression. 

 Further, while Harrah’s claims that “NRAP 40(B)(a)(2) (sic) is applicable 

because the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with prior holdings” it never 

articulates which prior holdings are at issue and how the Order of Remand does 

them violence.  Instead, Harrah’s, for the first time in this litigation, cites to a 1997 

case (Rio v. Gorsky) and attempts to make factual arguments in a too-late effort to 

argue that Mr. Baiguen’s injuries are “employment related.” Harrah’s then 

immediately reverts to the Arizona authority-based arguments it has made all 

along.  Quite simply, Harrah’s has failed to reasonably identify how the Order of 

Remand and Reversal is in conflict with existing Nevada law and therefore ripe for 

review.     

/// 

 

/// 
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CONCLUSION 

Based upon the legal authority and reasons set forth above and the pleadings 

and papers on file herein, Appellant Israel Baiguen requests that this Honorable 

Court DENY Respondent’s Petition for Review.